# **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II 08-29-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

APPEAL CASE NO.

17AP677CR 17AP678CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Lance P. Howard

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL OF THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SHEBOYGAN COUNTY,
HON. REBECCA PERSICK, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Kerri T. Cleghorn State Bar No. 1045719

Law Offices of Kerri T. Cleghorn, Inc.
2929 West Highland Boulevard
Milwaukee, WI 53208
414 274-0080
414 345-3222
Kerricleghorn@gmail.com

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On May 9, 2012, Plaintiff, Sheboygan County District Attorney's Office (hereinafter DA), filed a complaint against Lance Howard, (hereafter, Defendant), alleging that between the dates of May 2 and May 4, 2012, he intentionally deprived TP of her property (R. 1:2). The complaint stated that TP was in possession of a box that had been mailed from Miami Florida via US mail (R1:2). According to the complaint, the Defendant removed tablet from this box with another individual and later told police that the tablet was still in the possession of the other individual. (R.1:3). Defendant was charged with Theft as well as Bail Jumping as it was alleged that he was out on bail in Manitowoc County Case number 12CM164 (R 1:1,3) Defendant was also charged as a Repeater based on his record of three misdemeanor convictions within the last five years (R. 1:3).

On June 7, 2012, Defendant entered a guilty plea to the charge of theft, the charge of bail jumping was dismissed (R. 118:5,8). At that time, Defendant was given a withheld sentence with a period of probation of 18 months to run concurrent to other charges and a period of 30 days credit should the probation be revoked (R. 118:15). Defendant was then subject to a sentence after revocation on November 6, 2012 after he was charged with a new offense causing his probation to be revoked (R. 119:2). At that hearing, the defendant was

sentenced to one year prison and one year extended supervision consecutive to any other case and given 139 days credit for time served (R. 119:18,24).

On February 21, 2014, Defendant filed a Motion for Resentencing based on the fact that he was not given a revocation packet prior to his sentencing after revocation hearing on November 6, 2012 (R. 46, 47). This Motion was heard and granted on May 5, 2014 (R. 121). At that time, Defendant was again sentenced to one year incarceration and one year extended supervision (R. 56). The court ordered that there be 572 days presentence credit on case ending 411 and 687 on case ending 412. (R. 121: 13). This amount of credit was not only stipulated to by the parties in court but was actually calculated by the sitting Judge Terrence Bourke. (R. 121: 13)

The Department of Corrections then submitted correspondence to the court requesting that the court clarify what they believed to be inappropriate granting of sentence credit (R. 58) The court then filed a modified Judgment of Conviction on May 16, 1014 vacating previous sentence credit and granting 365 days credit on one case and 317 on the other. (R. 60). The court then filed a final modified Judgment of Conviction that removed the previously ordered DNA testing requirement. (R. 72). On November 7, 2016, Defendant file a motion for a new sentencing hearing. (R.

107). At a hearing on December 13, 2016, now presiding Judge Rebecca Persick denied the motion for a new sentencing. (R. 122:8) Defendant now appeals.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MODIFYING DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE TO REFLECT CONSEQUITIVE CREDIT WHEN THE RECORD SUPPPORTS CONCURRENT CREDIT AND A CONCURRENT SENTENCE.

At the time of the resentencing of Mr. Howard on May 5, 2014, the sentencing judge clearly took into consideration the calculations of time credit that he took it upon himself to perform. (R. 121:12-13). The court then specifically addressed the fact that the calculation was straight forward and that he double checked his math to make sure he was correct. (R. 121:12-13). He specifically outlined the credit in relation to what point in time he was giving credit for. (R. 121:12-13). The court gave presentence credit in an amount that would be appropriate for a concurrent not consecutive sentence (121:13-14). The court then modified the sentence post-hearing to grant the appropriate amount of sentence credit for a consecutive sentence without the benefit of reviewing the transcript or having a hearing to allow argument. Sentence credit is governed by 973.155 Wis. Stats. Specifically, in 973.155(2)Wis. Stats., the court is to order the appropriate credit after imposing a sentence on the defendant.

According to the Court in Walker, when the intended sentence is legal, but the judge fails to follow the procedure set forth in 973.155 Wis Stats., the appropriate remedy is to modify the sentence to conform it to the requirements outlined in that statute. State v. Walker, 117 Wis. 2d 579, 345 N.W.2d 413 (1984). In the present case, the court did give a valid sentence but inconsistently ordered that the sentences should run consecutive to each other. As in Walker, the court in the present case clearly gave thought to the type of sentence he wanted the Defendant to serve and in addition to that was well aware of the length of time that he believed the defendant deserved as presentence credit. Given the law set forth in Walker, the appropriate remedy was to modify the sentence as done by the court. However, it should not be assumed that the court's intention is for the Defendant to serve more time and error on the side of increased In the present case, the proper remedy would be to modify the sentence to include sentences to run concurrent to each other. is should be no mistaking the court's intention when the court specifically performs the calculation and orders that amount of credit all the while commenting on the straightforward nature of the calculation.

## CONCLUSION

For the above-listed reasoning, the Defendant, Lance Howard requests that the Court modify the sentence to reflect credit at the time of sentencing of 572 days credit on case ending 411 and 678 days on case ending 412 with sentences running concurrently. Dated this  $1^{\rm St}$  August, 2017.