## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

# RECEIVED

01-05-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017 AP 677-CR and 678-CR

## STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

LANCE P. HOWARD,

Defendant-Appellant.

## **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

Appealed from Sentencing After Revocation Entered in the Circuit Court of Sheboygan County, Wisconsin on November 6, 2012 and reconsidered on May 14, 2014, the Honorable Judge Terence Bourke, presiding; and the Denial for a new Sentencing Hearing on January 7, 2017, the Honorable Rebecca Persick presiding. Trial Court Case Nos. 2012 CM 411/412

> JOEL URMANSKI District Attorney Sheboygan County

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

Whether Defendant-Appellant Lance P. Howard's due process rights were violated when the Circuit Court denied his request for a new sentencing hearing in an Order dated January 7, 2017.

The trial court answered: **NO** 

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not believe that oral argument is necessary in this case because the issues raised on appeal will be fully developed in the briefs submitted to the Court. The state also believes that publication is not necessary because the issues involve no more than the application of well-settled law to a common fact situation.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 7, 2012, the Defendant-Appellant Lance P. Howard entered "guilty" pleas to a total of three criminal misdemeanor charges (with repeater enhancers) in Sheboygan County Case Nos. 2012 CM 411 and 2012 CM 412. There was a single conviction for Misdemeanor Theft as a repeater in 2012 CM 411, and convictions for Misdemeanor Battery and Bail Jumping, both as repeaters, in 2012 CM 412. An additional charge of Disorderly Conduct as a repeater was dismissed and read in to 2012 CM 412. An additional charge of Misdemeanor Bail jumping as a repeater was dismissed and read in to 2012 CM 411.

Sheboygan County Branch 4 Circuit Judge Terence Bourke withheld sentence in both cases and placed Howard on concurrent terms of probation in the cases, with some conditional jail time imposed in Case No. 2012 CM 412.

Howard's probation was revoked for both cases in short order, and on November 6, 2012, Judge Bourke sentenced Howard to consecutive terms of one year Initial Confinement and one year Extended Supervision for the single count of Misdemeanor Theft as a repeater in 2012 CM 411 and for the count of Misdemeanor Battery as a repeater in 2012 CM 412. On the same date, Judge Bourke also sentenced Howard to a one-year term of Initial Confinement followed by one year of Extended Supervision for the remaining count of Misdemeanor Bail Jumping as a repeater in 2012 CM 412, but ordered that the sentence for Bail Jumping be served concurrently with the sentence imposed for the Battery conviction. Sentence credit was calculated at the time, but Howard subsequently moved for a rehearing on the sentences, and a hearing was held on May 14, 2014 before Judge Bourke. The Judge recalculated the sentence credit in the cases, to reflect 572 days credit on 2012 CM 411 and 678 days credit on 2012 CM 412 (Def. Appendix 112, line 10). At the same time, Judge Bourke reviewed his rationale for his original Sentences After Revocation

imposed on November 6, 2012, reaffirmed his intent that

the sentences be served consecutively.

"As I look at the original sentence and the reasons why I did it, again, because of your failure on probation, because of your repeated criminal activity, I thought going to prison was about the only option I had." (Def. Appendix 116, lines 4-8)

Judge Bourke particularly reemphasized the concurrent/consecutive nature of the sentences in the two cases, noting that

"on Count Number 1 of 12 CM 412, which is the battery, I'll sentence you to one year of initial confinement followed by one year of extended supervision. And on Count 3, which is the bail jumping, I will sentence you to one year of initial confinement followed by one year of extended supervision. Those will run concurrent with each other but consecutive to that in 12 CM 411." (Def. Appendix 116, lines 14-20)

Howard appealed the sentence, the case was sent back to the trial court for filing a post-conviction motion, and a scheduling conference concerning the sentence and sentence credit was conducted on December 13, 2016 by Judge Rebecca Persick, who had succeeded Judge Bourke in Branch 4 following Judge Bourke's retirement. The discussion of the issues ranged far afield, and included whether Howard's original sentence after revocation had been "vacated" on May 14, 2016, as seemed recorded on the Judgment of Conviction, or whether the original Judgment of Conviction had simply been "amended" to conform to what the actual mathematical calculation of the sentence credit should have been in the first place. (Def. Appendix p. 121-128) Judge Persick found that the latter held true, and that therefore Howard had suffered no due process deprivation as a result of the process which had unfolded in Branch 4 concerning his sentences after revocation for the two misdemeanor cases. Judge Persick signed an Order on January 7, 2017 formally denying Howard's Motion for a new Sentencing Hearing.

This appeal followed, raising for the first time the claim that the sentences after revocation initially imposed by Judge Bourke for these two misdemeanors should have been ordered to run concurrently rather than consecutively.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## Nothing in the record supports Howard's current claim that Judge Bourke intended to impose concurrent sentences in both 2012 CM 411 and 2012 CM 412. The record, in fact, is clear to the contrary.

As a threshold matter, however, the State asks the Court of Appeals to first consider whether Lance Howard effectively forfeited or abandoned his right to appeal these cases when he fled the Court's jurisdiction and committed new crimes in another state.

It has recently come to this attorney's attention that while Howard's appeal of these two misdemeanors has been pending in one form or another since 2013, requiring exorbitant expenditures of time and consideration on behalf of both the Court of Appeals and the attorneys for both parties, Howard had absconded from supervision on December 23, 2015 and left Wisconsin, only to be charged with his first Indiana felony on January 19, 2016.

In support of this new information, I am attaching a memo dated December 19, 2017 from Probation & Parole Agent Damon Boustany verifying both the date that Howard absconded from supervision, and the fact that had he stayed in Wisconsin, he would have discharged from his only remaining case, 2012 CM 412, on June 13, 2016. (Appendix A-1) I am also attaching a collection of Indiana circuit court documents provided to me by email from Mackenzie Ash, the Chief Administrative Officer in the Office of the Madison, Indiana County Prosecutor. (Appendix A-2 through A-19) These documents establish that Howard was charged with one count of felony battery in Madison County, Indiana on January 19, 2016 and then two more felony counts ("criminal confinement"-which appears to be the functional equivalent of Wisconsin's "false imprisonment" statuteand another felony battery) from an incident date of July 4, 2016. A plea agreement was reached which called for Howard to plead to both of the later counts, and the first case was dismissed. Howard was subsequently sentenced on June 5, 2017 to several years in prison and is currently incarcerated in the State of Indiana.

Under these circumstances, I submit that Howard effectively forfeited or abandoned his appeal of the sentences in these two misdemeanor cases. In the event that the Court of Appeals prefers to see this appeal to a conclusion on the issues, the State answers as follows:

Howard has raised but a single issue on appeal: that the trial court erred by imposing consecutive sentences when it should have ordered that Howard receive concurrent sentences (Def. Brief p. 4).

The record in this case indicates with clarity that Judge Terence Bourke fully intended to make two of Howard's sentences after revocation run consecutively while the sentence for the third charge would be concurrent.

Howard did not provide the District Attorney's office with a transcript of the first sentencing hearing after Howard's probation was revoked, occurring on November 6, 2012. It is my understanding that the transcript has been sent with the rest of the case file from the Sheboygan County Clerk of Courts to the Court of Appeals. Nonetheless, a review of electronic records kept by the Wisconsin Circuit Court Access Program notes with no ambivalence or equivocation that Judge Bourke sentenced Howard in 2012 CM 412 to a term of Initial Confinement followed by Extended Supervision on the charge of Misdemeanor Battery as a repeater to run consecutively to the term of Initial Confinement followed by Extended Supervision imposed in 2012 CM 411. The sentence for the second misdemeanor charge in 2012 CM 412 was to run concurrently. At the subsequent rehearing

on May 5, 2014 during which Judge Bourke recalculated the sentence credit for the two cases, he put his reasons on the record as to the prison sentences and his reasons for imposing them consecutively. Essentially, Judge Bourke's reasons boiled down to Howard's previous criminal history and demonstrated lack of compliance with the rules of probation.

"As I look at the original sentence and the reasons why I did it, again, because of your failure on probation, because of your repeated criminal activity, I thought going to prison was about the only option I had. And I'll make the same sentence knowing you're going to get out in a month. ... On Count Number 1 of 12 CM 412, which is the battery, I'll sentence you to one year of Initial Confinement followed by one year of Extended Supervision. And on Count 3, which is the bail jumping, I will sentence you to one year of initial confinement followed by one year of Extended Supervision. Those will run concurrent with each other *but consecutive to that in 12 CM 411 (emphasis added).*" (Def. Appendix p. 116, lines 4-20).

Judge Bourke's reasoning at the May 5, 2014 sentencing rehearing was both thoughtful and sound, and gives no reason to believe that he somehow intended to make Howard's sentences all run concurrently.

For this reason, the State respectfully asks the Court of Appeals to deny Howard's request to convert his consecutive sentences in 2012 CM 411 and 412 to concurrent terms, effectively discharging him from the need to return to Wisconsin to complete his remaining Extended Supervision when his sentence is fulfilled in Indiana.

## **CONCLUSION**

Howard effectively abandoned his right to challenge the sentences in these cases when he fled from the Court's jurisdiction and committed new crimes in the state of Indiana. However, there is also no reason in the record of these cases to think that Judge Bourke improperly or inadvertently imposed consecutive prison terms, justifying adjusting the sentences to run concurrently. The State respectfully asks the Court of Appeals to affirm the sentences of the trial court.